	MUSTAPHA ASSOC	Abdulwahab Muhammad CYP2C19 PO	
	IATED MISCARRIAGE IN NORTHERN CYPRUS	LYMORPHISMS IN PATIENTS WITH THROMBOSIS-	
MEDICINE	MOLECUALR	<b>THESIS IN</b>	MASTER
	2025	NEO	



# CYP2C19 POLYMORPHISMS IN PATIENTS WITH THROMBOSIS-ASSOCIATED MISCARRIAGE IN NORTHERN CYPRUS

M.Sc. THESIS

Abdulwahab Muhammad MUSTAPHA

Nicosia March, 2025

# NEAR EAST UNIVERSITY INSTITUTE OF GRADUATE STUDIES DEPARTMENT OF MEDICAL BIOLOGY MOLECULAR MEDICINE PROGRAM

# CYP2C19 POLYMORPHISMS IN PATIENTS WITH THROMBOSIS-ASSOCIATED MISCARRIAGE IN NORTHERN CYPRUS

**M.Sc. THESIS** 

Abdulwahab Muhammad MUSTAPHA

Supervisor Prof. Dr. Selma YILMAZ

Co-supervisor Assoc. Prof. Dr. Fikret DİRİLENOĞLU

> Nicosia March, 2025

# Approval

We certify that we have read the thesis submitted by Abdulwahab Muhammad MUSTAPHA "CYP2C19 POLYMORPHISMS IN PATIENTS WITH THROMBOSIS-ASSOCIATED MISCARRIAGE IN NORTHERN CYPRUS" and that in our combined opinion it is fully adequate, in scope and quality, as a thesis for the degree of Master of Molecular Medicine Sciences.



Approved by the Head of the Department

1...../2025 . . . . . . . . .

Prof. Dr. Selma Yılmaz

Head of Department

Approved by the Institute of Graduate Studies

.....J...../2025

Prof. Dr. Kemal Hüsnü Can Başer



# Declaration

I hereby declare that all information, documents, analysis, and results in this thesis have been collected and presented according to the academic rules and ethical guidelines of the Institute of Graduate Studies, Near East University. I also declare that, as required by these rules and conduct, I have fully cited and referenced information and data that are not original to this study.

Abdulwahab MUHAMMAD MUSTAPHA

28/03/2025

## Acknowledgments

First and foremost, I express my deepest gratitude to Almighty God for granting me the strength, patience, and determination to complete this research. Without divine guidance, this journey would not have been possible. I extend my sincere appreciation to my supervisor, Prof. Dr. Selma YILMAZ, Co-Supervisor, Assoc. Prof. Dr. Fikret DİRİLENOĞLU, and the Director of the Medical Genetics laboratory, Assoc. Prof. Dr. Mahmut CERKEZ ERGÖREN, for their invaluable guidance, insightful advice, and unwavering support throughout this research. Their expertise, constructive feedback, and encouragement have played a crucial role in shaping this work. I would also like to express my heartfelt thanks to Dr. Havva ÇOBANOĞULLARI and Prof. Dr. Gamze MOCAN for their contributions, support, and encouragement during this research. Their perspectives and guidance have been deeply appreciated. I am profoundly grateful to the Near East University Faculty of Medicine, Department of Molecular Medicine, particularly the faculty members and staff, for providing an excellent academic environment, access to research facilities, and the necessary resources to conduct this study. A special thanks to Dize and other Lab Technicians for their technical support, assistance with sample collection, and expertise in laboratory procedures, which were integral to the success of this project. A very special thanks to my family, my wife, and colleagues whose unconditional love, patience, and unwavering support have been my greatest source of strength. Your encouragement kept me motivated even during the most challenging times of this research.

This thesis is the result of collective efforts, and I am truly grateful to everyone who has been a part of this journey.

#### ABDULWAHAB MUHAMMAD MUSTAPHA

### ABSTRACT

# CYP2C19 POLYMORPHISMS IN PATIENTS WITH THROMBOSIS-ASSOCIATED MISCARRIAGE IN NORTHERN CYPRUS Abdulwahab MUHAMMAD MUSTAPHA, PROF. DR. SELMA YILMAZ, Assoc. Prof. Dr. Fikret DİRİLENOĞLU M.Sc., Department of Molecular Medicine February 2025, 47 Pages.

**Introduction:** Miscarriage, particularly when recurrent or associated with thrombosis, is a significant reproductive health issue. Thrombophilia, an increased tendency towards blood clotting, is a known risk factor. While established genetic thrombophilia are often investigated, exploring other potential genetic contributors is important. The *CYP2C19* gene encodes an enzyme involved in metabolizing various compounds; common polymorphisms in this gene (*CYP2C19\*2*, \*3\*, \*17\*) significantly alter its activity. While well-studied for their impact on drug metabolism (e.g., clopidogrel), the frequency and potential relevance of these polymorphisms in specific populations experiencing thrombosis-related pregnancy complications, independent of drug exposure, require investigation. Data on *CYP2C19* allele frequencies in the TRNC population, particularly in this context, are limited. We aimed to determine the allele and genotype frequencies of the functionally significant *CYP2C19* polymorphisms \*2 (c.681G>A), \*3 (c.636G>A), and \*17 (c.-806C>T) in women residing in the TRNC with a history of thrombosis-associated miscarriage.

**Methodology:** Women with a history of thrombosis-associated miscarriage, of Turkish Cypriot ethnicity, and meeting age criteria (16-42 years) were recruited. Following informed consent, genomic DNA was extracted from peripheral blood samples using a commercial kit. Genotyping for the *CYP2C19\*2*, \*3\*, and \*17\* variants was performed using validated real-time PCR 5' nuclease assays. Final sample sizes for analysis were N=37 for \*3 and N=42 for \*2 and \*17, following initial recruitment and exclusions based on sample quality/quantity. Hardy-Weinberg Equilibrium (HWE) was assessed for each polymorphism using the Pearson Chi-Square test (p < 0.05 significance threshold).

**Results:** The calculated allele frequencies in this cohort were: CYP2C19\*2 (loss-of-function) = 0.38 (38%); CYP2C19\*3 (loss-of-function) = 0.40 (40%); and CYP2C19\*17 (gain-of-function) = 0.44 (44%). Genotype distributions for CYP2C19\*3 (p=0.827) and \*17\* (p=0.520) were found to

be in HWE. However, the genotype distribution for CYP2C19\*2 showed a significant deviation from HWE (p=0.0113) in this specific group.

**Conclusion:** This study provides the first assessment of CYP2C19\*2, \*3, and \*17 allele frequencies in women with thrombosis-associated miscarriage in Northern Cyprus. The findings reveal a high prevalence of both loss-of-function (\*2 and \*3) and gain-of-function (\*17) alleles within this cohort, suggesting significant inter-individual variability in potential CYP2C19 enzyme activity. While these results establish important baseline genetic data, they do not, in isolation, confirm a direct causal link between these polymorphisms and miscarriage risk. The deviation from HWE for CYP2C19\*2 warrants further investigation. Future larger case-control studies are necessary to explore potential associations and the clinical relevance of CYP2C19 variants in the context of thrombosis-related pregnancy complications in this population.

**Keywords**: Recurrent Miscarriage, CYP2C19, Polymorphism, Thrombophilia, Allele Frequency, Northern Cyprus, Genetic Variation, Recurrent Pregnancy Loss

# List of Abbreviations

APS: Antiphospholipid Syndrome

CAT: cancer-associated thrombosis

DVT: Deep vein thrombosis

EDTA: Ethylenediaminetetraacetic acid

GOF: Gain-of-function

HWE: Hardy-Weinberg Equilibrium

HIT: heparin-induced thrombocytopenia

IM: Intermediate metabolizer

LMWH: Low-molecular-weight heparin

LOF: Loss-of-function

PE: Pulmonary embolism

PTS: Post-thrombotic syndrome

PGT: Genetic Testing

SNP: Nucleotide Polymorphism

TRNC: Turkish Republic of Northern Cyprus

UM: Ultra-rapid metabolizer

VTE: Venous thromboembolism

Approval III
DeclarationIV
AcknowledgmentsV
ABSTRACTVI
List of Abbreviations
CHAPTER I 1
INTRODUCTION 1
PROBLEM STATEMENT
AIM AND OBJECTIVE OF THIS STUDY
This study aims: 4
HYPOTHESIS OF THIS STUDY 4
CHAPTER II4
Epidemiology and Etiology of Thrombosis5
Risk Factors for Thrombosis
Acquired Risk Factors
Inherited Risk Factors
Pathophysiology of Thrombosis
Increased Risk of Thrombosis During Pregnancy and Postpartum
The Role of Thrombosis in Recurrent Miscarriage (RM)11
Specific Thrombophilias Implicated in RM:12
Management Implications:
CYP2C19 Gene Polymorphisms and Functional Variability12

# **Table of Contents**

CHAPTER III	
METHODOLOGY	
Case Selection and Patient Information	
Sample Collection	17
DNA Extraction	17
Genetic Analysis Using Clopidogrel Real-Time PCR Kits (3 Mutations)	
CYP2C19 Genotyping	
Product Specification	
PCR Program and Procedure	
PCR Program for CYP2C19 Genotyping Cycling Conditions	
Statistical Analysis	
CHAPTER IV	
RESULTS	
Case Selection and Patient Information	
CYP2C19 Allele and Genotype Frequencies	
<i>CYP2C19*</i> 3 (636 G>A) Variant	
<i>CYP2C19*</i> 2 (681 G>A) Variant	
<i>CYP2C19</i> *17 (-806 C>T) Variant	
CHAPTER V	24
DISCUSSION	24
CHAPTER VI	
CONCLUSION	
Recommendation	
References	
Turnitin	

# List of Tables

Table 1: Description of the three major factors that contribute to clot formation according to
Virchow's Triad concept10
Table 2: Major functional alleles of the CYP2C19 gene
Table 3: Contents of Clopidogrel real-time PCR kits for 3 mutations (636 G>A *3, 681 G>A
*2, and 806 C>T *17)
Table 4: PCR program for CYP2C19 genotyping cycling conditions       19
Table 1: Genotype and Allele Frequencies for CYP2C19*3 (636 G>A) in the Study Cohort
(N=37)
Table 2: Genotype and Allele Frequencies for CYP2C19*2 (681 G>A) in the Study Cohort
(N=42)
Table 3: Genotype and Allele Frequencies for CYP2C19*17 (-806 C>T) in the Study Cohort
(N=42)

# **List of Figures**

Figure 1:	Example of CYP2	9 metabolic activity	16
-----------	-----------------	----------------------	----

# **CHAPTER I**

# INTRODUCTION

Miscarriage, a common complication of early pregnancy, has multiple underlying causes, including chromosomal abnormalities, uterine abnormalities, hormonal imbalances, and thrombophilia, a condition characterized by abnormal blood coagulation (Magnus et al., 2019). Thrombophilia significantly increases the risk of thrombosis, or excessive blood clot formation, which can obstruct blood flow and lead to serious complications, including deep vein thrombosis (DVT), pulmonary embolism (PE), stroke, and adverse pregnancy outcomes (Wen et al., 2023). While blood clot formation is a normal physiological response to prevent excessive bleeding, an imbalance in clotting factors in thrombophilia leads to hypercoagulability, heightening the risk of thromboembolic event (Ahangari et al., 2019).

Pregnancy itself is a hypercoagulable state, increasing the risk of venous thromboembolism (VTE), including DVT and PE. Studies indicate that pregnant women are four to five times more likely to experience thromboembolism compared to non-pregnant individuals due to venous stasis, hypercoagulability, and endothelial injury (Nana et al., 2021). This increased clotting tendency poses a substantial maternal health risk, as PE remains one of the leading causes of maternal mortality in developed countries (Sedano-Balbás et al., 2011). Moreover, women who develop DVT may suffer from long-term complications such as post-thrombotic syndrome (PTS), which can further impact maternal health and future pregnancies. Proactive management strategies, including anticoagulation therapy, are crucial for women with known thrombophilic conditions or previous thrombotic events to mitigate these risks (Ahangari et al., 2019). The relationship between thrombophilia and pregnancy loss highlights the importance of genetic screening and personalized medical interventions (Coulam et al., 2006).

Cytochrome P450 2C19 (CYP2C19) is a crucial enzyme in the metabolism of various drugs, including clopidogrel, proton pump inhibitors, selective serotonin reuptake inhibitors, anticonvulsants, and some chemotherapeutic agents (Saydam et al., 2017). It belongs to the cytochrome P450 superfamily and is responsible for phase I drug metabolism. CYP2C19 catalyzes

oxidation reactions, converting lipophilic compounds into hydrophilic metabolites for elimination. CYP2C19 functions include product activation, drug detoxification and clearance, and synthesis of endogenous compounds (Sukprasong et al., 2021).

The CYP2C19 gene is highly polymorphic, with major allelic variants classified into loss-offunction, gain-of-function, and normal function alleles. Clopidogrel metabolism is highly dependent on CYP2C19 activity, as it is required for its conversion into an active metabolite. The combination of inherited alleles determines an individual's drug metabolism capacity(Shin et al., 2012). CYP2C19 polymorphisms are categorized into poor metabolizers, intermediate metabolizers, extensive metabolizers, and ultra-rapid metabolizers (Tiroch et al., 2010). Poor Metabolizers (PM): Typically carry two loss-of-function (LOF) alleles (e.g., \*2/\*2, \*3/\*3, \*2/\*3). The \*2 and \*3 alleles are the most common LOF alleles. Intermediate Metabolizers (IM): Typically carry one functional allele and one LOF allele (e.g., \*1/\*2, \*1/\*3). The \*1 allele is the normal function (wild-type) allele. Normal Metabolizers (NM): (Often referred to as Extensive Metabolizers - EM) Typically carry two functional alleles (e.g., \*1/\*1). Rapid Metabolizers (RM) / Ultra-Rapid Metabolizers (UM): Carry at least one increased function allele, most commonly 17, without any LOF alleles (e.g., \*1/\*17, \*17/\*17). The presence of \*17 can sometimes override a LOF allele depending on specific guidelines (e.g. \*2/\*17 might be classified as NM or IM). Individuals carrying two LOF alleles have severely impaired Clopidogrel activation, leading to increased risk of stent thrombosis and recurrent miscarriage (RM) (Christofolini et al., 2015). Carrying two LOF alleles defines the Poor Metabolizer phenotype. This is strongly and consistently associated with impaired Clopidogrel activation and a significantly increased risk of Major Adverse Cardiovascular Events (MACE), particularly stent thrombosis, after procedures like Percutaneous Coronary Intervention (PCI) (El Ghannudi et al., 2010).

#### **PROBLEM STATEMENT**

Miscarriage, particularly when recurrent or associated with thrombotic events, represents a significant reproductive health challenge. Thrombophilia, an increased tendency to form blood clots, is a known risk factor for such pregnancy complications. While the genetic basis of thrombophilia is complex and involves multiple factors, exploring novel potential genetic contributors is crucial for better understanding and risk assessment.

The cytochrome P450 2C19 (CYP2C19) enzyme plays a well-established role in metabolizing various compounds, including some medications. Genetic variations (polymorphisms) in the *CYP2C19* gene can significantly alter enzyme activity. While extensively studied for their impact on drug response (like Clopidogrel), the potential role of these polymorphisms in influencing underlying physiological processes related to thrombosis or pregnancy maintenance, independent of drug exposure, is less understood. Investigating whether *CYP2C19* variants are associated with susceptibility to thrombosis-related pregnancy complications is therefore warranted.

In the Turkish Republic of Northern Cyprus (TRNC), there is limited data on the prevalence of *CYP2C19* polymorphisms within the general population, and specifically among women who have experienced thrombosis-associated miscarriage. Characterizing the distribution of these genetic variants in this specific patient group is an essential first step. Understanding the allelic frequencies could provide insights into whether certain *CYP2C19* genotypes are overrepresented in women with this condition, potentially indicating a role for this gene in the pathophysiology of thrombosis-associated miscarriage.

This research aims to address this knowledge gap by analyzing the allelic frequencies of clinically relevant *CYP2C19* polymorphisms in women with a history of thrombosis-associated miscarriage in the TRNC. The findings will contribute to understanding the genetic landscape of this population and explore a potential association between *CYP2C19* variants and the risk of miscarriage linked to thrombotic events.

## AIM AND OBJECTIVE OF THIS STUDY

Genetic factors are known to contribute to thrombophilia and adverse pregnancy outcomes. While the role of *CYP2C19* polymorphisms in drug metabolism is well-established, their potential direct influence on thrombotic risk or pregnancy complications, independent of medication, warrants investigation. Understanding the prevalence of these variants in specific high-risk groups is a crucial first step.

# This study aims:

- 1. To determine the allele and genotype frequencies of clinically relevant *CYP2C19* polymorphisms (specifically \*2, \*3, and \*17) in women residing in the TRNC with a history of thrombosis-associated miscarriage.
- 2. To explore a potential association between these *CYP2C19* variants and the susceptibility to experiencing thrombosis-associated miscarriage in this specific population.

## HYPOTHESIS OF THIS STUDY

The frequencies of specific *CYP2C19* polymorphisms (\*2, \*3, \*17) in women with thrombosisassociated miscarriage in the TRNC may differ significantly from those observed in general or reference populations, suggesting a potential association between these genetic variants and the predisposition to this condition.

#### **CHAPTER II**

#### **Epidemiology and Etiology of Thrombosis**

Thrombosis is defined as the pathological formation of a blood clot (thrombus) within a blood vessel (artery or vein) or heart chamber, which obstructs normal blood flow. This process occurs due to the inappropriate activation of the coagulation cascade, leading to the conversion of fibrinogen into fibrin. The fibrin mesh traps blood cells, forming a solid clot that can cause ischemia (reduced blood supply) locally or detach and travel as an embolus to distant sites (Coulam et al., 2006).

The incidence and prevalence of thrombosis vary based on population demographics, risk factors, and genetic predisposition. According to the World Health Organization (WHO) and the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC), venous thromboembolism (VTE) affects 1 to 2 per 1,000 individuals annually, while arterial thrombosis, including stroke and myocardial infarction, is the leading cause of global mortality(Zhang et al., 2024). Up to 10 million cases of VTE occur worldwide each year, with mortality rates ranging between 10% and 30% within 30 days of diagnosis (Hamulyák et al., 2021). While specific epidemiological data for the TRNC are limited, thrombosis is recognized as an important health concern within the region, influenced by general risk factors prevalent globally.

The etiology of thrombosis is multifactorial, involving an interplay of genetic predisposition and acquired risk factors (components of Virchow's triad encompass endothelial damage, turbulent blood flow, and an elevated state of coagulability).

Key acquired risk factors include increasing age, major surgery or trauma, hospitalization and prolonged immobility, malignancy, obesity, smoking, and the use of certain medications like estrogen-containing contraceptives (Previtali et al., 2011). Crucially, pregnancy and the postpartum period are well-established hypercoagulable states, significantly increasing the risk of VTE in women of reproductive age. Inherited factors, collectively known as thrombophilia, also contribute substantially to thrombosis risk. These include common genetic variants like Factor V Leiden and the Prothrombin G20210A mutation, as well as rarer deficiencies in natural anticoagulants, predisposing individuals to thrombotic events, sometimes manifesting in specific situations like pregnancy (Alsheef et al., 2020).

## **Risk Factors for Thrombosis**

Thrombosis development is typically influenced by a combination of acquired and inherited risk factors, often conceptualized through Virchow's triad (endothelial injury, stasis of blood flow, and hypercoagulability).

### Acquired risk factors

Numerous acquired conditions and situations can increase the risk of thrombosis. These include:

- Immobility and Stasis: Prolonged bed rest, hospitalization, long-distance travel, and limb paralysis reduce blood flow, promoting clot formation (Lichota et al., 2020).
- **Tissue Injury/Inflammation:** Major surgery, significant trauma, infections (sepsis), inflammatory conditions (like inflammatory bowel disease), and malignancy trigger coagulation pathways (Liu et al., 2021).
- Medical Conditions: Chronic diseases such as heart failure, nephrotic syndrome, certain autoimmune disorders, myeloproliferative neoplasms, and obesity are associated with increased thrombotic risk (Leiva et al., 2022)
- Medications and Hormones: Estrogen-containing therapies (oral contraceptives, hormone replacement therapy), selective estrogen receptor modulators (SERMs), and certain chemotherapy agents can elevate risk (Neilson et al., 2010). Heparin-induced thrombocytopenia (HIT), an immune reaction to heparin, paradoxically increases clotting risk (I. Ahmed et al., 2007).
- Indwelling Devices: Central venous catheters and peripherally inserted central catheter (PICC) lines can cause endothelial injury and alter blood flow, predisposing to thrombosis (Neilson et al., 2010).
- Antiphospholipid Syndrome (APS): APS is a significant autoimmune cause of acquired thrombophilia, characterized by the presence of specific autoantibodies (lupus anticoagulant, anti-cardiolipin antibodies, anti-β2 glycoprotein-I antibodies). It is strongly linked to both recurrent arterial/venous thrombosis and adverse pregnancy outcomes, including RM. Diagnosis often involves clinical criteria (thrombosis or specific pregnancy morbidity) combined with persistently positive antibody tests (Sedano-Balbás et al., 2011).

#### **Inherited risk factors**

Inheritable thrombophilia is not linked to early pregnancy loss but are significantly correlated with still births after 20 weeks of gestation (Ahangari et al., 2019). Following a duration of 22 weeks, it was substantially associated with isolated and repeated fetal loss. Genetically, inherited thrombophilia follows an autosomal dominant pattern with variable penetrance in women with unexplained RM (Liu et al., 2021).

The genetic causes of thrombophilia include the G20210A prothrombin gene mutation increases prothrombin levels, increasing the risk of venous thrombosis, placental complications, and potentially impairing placental circulation, leading to miscarriages or stillbirth (Ahangari et al., 2019). Prothrombin gene mutant subtypes are linked to non-recurrent late fetal loss, recurrent fetal loss before 18 to 25 weeks, and recurrent first-trimester fetal loss.

Factor V Leiden (FVL) mutation causes resistance to activated protein C and results in prolonged clotting activity. Heterozygous carriers have a 5- to 7-fold increased risk of thrombosis, while homozygous carriers have up to an 80-fold increased risk (Chen et al., 2024). After 19 weeks, factor V Leiden is linked to non-recurrent fetal loss. (Al-Allawi et al., 2014). Protein C deficiency, a natural anticoagulant, leads to excess clotting and increases thrombosis risk, particularly in pregnancy, due to its degradation of factors Va and VIIIa. While mutated activated protein C resistance and protein S insufficiency, which are frequently acquired during pregnancy or inherited, are linked to recurrent fetal loss after 22 weeks and recurrent fetal loss in the first trimester, they increase the risk of deep vein thrombosis and obstetric complications(Patil et al., 2015).

Genetic predisposition plays a crucial role in thrombotic risk. Inherited thrombophilia typically follows an autosomal dominant pattern with variable penetrance, meaning not everyone with the genetic trait will develop thrombosis (Khan et al., 2006). Although there is dispute in the research about the link between hereditary thrombophilia and early recurrent pregnancy loss, their link to later pregnancy complications, such as stillbirth or fetal loss after 20-22 weeks, is more clearly established (Alecsandru et al., 2021). Key inherited risk factors include:

• Factor V Leiden (FVL) Mutation (G1691A): This common mutation causes resistance to activated protein C (APC), a natural anticoagulant, leading to prolonged clotting activity.

Heterozygous carriers face a 5- to 7-fold increased VTE risk, while homozygous risk is significantly higher (up to 80-fold) (Chen et al., 2024). FVL has been associated with late fetal loss (Al-Allawi et al., 2014, Ahangari et al., 2019).

- **Prothrombin Gene Mutation (G20210A):** This mutation leads to elevated prothrombin levels, increasing the propensity for clot formation and the risk of VTE. It has been implicated in placental complications and various patterns of fetal loss, potentially including recurrent first-trimester loss in some studies, although its role in early loss remains debated (Kupferminc, 2003).
- **Protein C and Protein S Deficiencies:** Proteins C and S are natural anticoagulants that regulate factors Va and VIIIa. Inherited deficiencies impair this regulation, leading to a hypercoagulable state and increased risk of VTE. These deficiencies have been associated with obstetric complications, particularly later fetal loss (Patil et al., 2015, Ahangari et al., 2019).
- Antithrombin Deficiency: Antithrombin is another crucial natural anticoagulant. Its deficiency, though rare, significantly increases thrombosis risk (Marco-Rico et al., 2023).

## **Pathophysiology of Thrombosis**

Thrombosis occurs due to a disruption in the balance between coagulation and fibrinolysis, which can be categorized under Virchow's Triad, describing the three major factors that contribute to clot formation: endothelial injury, hypercoagulability, and venous stasis (Kumar et al., 2010, Bagot et al., 2008).

1. Endothelial Injury/Dysfunction: Under normal conditions, the vascular endothelium provides a crucial anticoagulant and antiplatelet surface. It expresses molecules like thrombomodulin (which activates the Protein C anticoagulant pathway) and releases substances (e.g., prostacyclin, nitric oxide) that inhibit platelet aggregation and promote vasodilation (Kumar et al., 2010, Boeldt et al., 2017). However, injury or activation of the endothelium disrupts this protective barrier. Damage can expose underlying procoagulant tissue factor and von Willebrand factor, initiating the coagulation cascade and facilitating platelet adhesion and aggregation (Posthuma et al., 2015). Endothelial dysfunction, often preceding overt injury, involves a shift towards a procoagulant, pro-inflammatory state

with reduced anticoagulant properties. Common causes of endothelial injury or dysfunction include physical trauma, surgery, inflammation (e.g., vasculitis, sepsis), hypertension, turbulent blood flow (e.g., at atherosclerotic plaques), metabolic factors (e.g., diabetes, hyperlipidemia), and toxins (e.g., cigarette smoke) (Bagot et al., 2008,Stone et al., 2017).

 Alterations in Blood Flow (Stasis and Turbulence): Normal laminar blood flow helps maintain endothelial health and prevents the accumulation of procoagulant factors. Disruptions in flow significantly contribute to thrombosis (Chiu et al., 2011).

**Stasis (Slow Blood Flow)**: Venous stasis allows activated clotting factors to accumulate locally, overwhelming natural inhibitors. It also increases the contact time between platelets and the endothelium, promoting adhesion (Cines et al., 1998). Stasis is common in situations like prolonged immobility (e.g., bed rest, long travel), paralysis, heart failure, varicose veins, and external compression of veins (e.g., by pregnancy or tumors) (Kumar et al., 2010).

**Turbulence**: While stasis is key in venous thrombosis, turbulent flow (disordered flow with eddy currents), often occurring at sites of arterial narrowing (atherosclerosis) or around damaged heart valves, can directly cause endothelial injury/activation and enhance platelet aggregation (Vincelj et al., 2002, Bagot et al., 2008).

**3.** Hypercoagulability (Thrombophilia): This refers to an increased tendency of the blood to clot due to alterations in the constituents of the blood itself. Hypercoagulability can arise from inherited conditions (e.g., Factor V Leiden, prothrombin gene mutation, deficiencies of Protein C, S, or antithrombin) or acquired states (e.g., malignancy, pregnancy, estrogen therapy, inflammatory diseases, antiphospholipid syndrome) (Chan et al., 2010). In these states, the balance is tipped towards excessive coagulation due to increased levels/activity of procoagulant factors or decreased levels/activity of natural anticoagulants or fibrinolytic components (Palta et al., 2014).

These three elements of Virchow's Triad are interconnected and often coexist, synergistically increasing the risk of thrombosis (Kumar et al., 2010). For instance, stasis can promote endothelial dysfunction, and inflammation can cause both endothelial injury and a hypercoagulable state **(Table 1)**.

Factor	Description	Example Conditions	
Endothelial Injury	Damage or dysfunction of the	Hypertension,	
	blood vessel lining promotes	Atherosclerosis, Trauma,	
	clot formation.	Sepsis	
Hypercoagulability	A higher risk of blood clotting	Thrombophilia, Cancer,	
	as a result of inherited or	Pregnancy, APS	
	acquired diseases.		
Alterations in blood flow	Slow blood flow increases	Bed rest, Prolonged	
	clot risk, especially in the	immobilization, Heart failure	
	deep veins of the legs.		

 Table 1: Description of the three major factors that contribute to clot formation according to Virchow's Triad concept

# **Increased Risk of Thrombosis During Pregnancy and Postpartum**

Pregnancy induces significant physiological changes that create a temporary hypercoagulable state, primarily viewed as an evolutionary adaptation to minimize blood loss during childbirth (Dimitriadis et al., 2020). However, this prothrombotic shift markedly increases the risk of venous thromboembolism (VTE) for the duration of pregnancy and, most notably, during the postpartum period.

The risk of VTE is estimated to be 4 to 6 times higher in pregnant and postpartum women compared to their non-pregnant peers, making thromboembolic events a leading cause of maternal morbidity and mortality, particularly in developed countries (Wendelboe et al., 2016). This risk is not uniform; it increases progressively throughout gestation, peaking significantly in the first six weeks following delivery (Kumar et al., 2010).

The heightened thrombotic risk associated with pregnancy stems from alterations affecting all three components of Virchow's Triad:

Hypercoagulability: Hormonal changes lead elevated production of coagulation factors (fibrinogen, Factors VII, VIII, X) and decreased activity of natural anticoagulant pathways (e.g., reduced Protein S levels) (Dimitriadis et al., 2020).

1. Venous Stasis: The enlarging uterus compresses pelvic veins (particularly the iliac veins), impairing venous return from the lower extremities. Reduced mobility in late pregnancy can also contribute (Phillips et al., 2014).

2. Vascular Changes/Injury: While less prominent than the other two factors throughout pregnancy, endothelial changes can occur, and potential vessel injury during labor and delivery can further contribute to risk at that specific time (Kumar et al., 2010)

While pregnancy itself is a potent risk factor, the likelihood of VTE is substantially magnified in women with additional underlying risk factors. A personal history of VTE is the strongest predictor. Furthermore, women with inherited thrombophilia, such as Factor V Leiden, the Prothrombin G20210A mutation, or deficiencies in Protein C, Protein S, or antithrombin, experience a synergistic increase in their VTE risk when combined with the prothrombotic state of pregnancy (Esmons, 1989; Wen et al., 2023).

#### The Role of Thrombosis in Recurrent Miscarriage (RM)

RM, also termed Recurrent Pregnancy Loss (RPL), is classically defined as the loss of two or three consecutive pregnancies before 20-24 weeks of gestation. Affecting 1–5% of couples attempting conception, RM has diverse causes, including genetic, anatomical, endocrine, and immunological factors (Lin et al., 2019). Thrombotic disorders, encompassing both inherited and acquired thrombophilia, are recognized contributors, potentially underlying a significant portion (estimated  $\sim$ 15–20%) of cases previously considered unexplained(Shaker et al., 2021).

The primary mechanism by which thrombophilia is thought to cause miscarriage involves impaired placental development and function due to microvascular thrombosis. The hypercoagulable state associated with thrombophilia (either baseline or exacerbated by pregnancy) can lead to the formation of microthrombi within the spiral arteries and intervillous spaces of the developing placenta (Hosseinzadegan et al., 2017). This micro thrombosis can result in:

- **Reduced Uteroplacental Blood Flow:** Obstructed vessels compromise the delivery of oxygen and nutrients to the fetus (Thornburg et al., 2013).
- **Defective Trophoblast Invasion:** Proper invasion of maternal spiral arteries by fetal trophoblast cells is crucial for establishing adequate blood flow; thrombosis can hinder this process (Whitley et al., 2010).
- **Placental Infarction:** Areas of placental tissue may die due to a lack of blood supply (Lei et al., 2022).
- Inflammation and Oxidative Stress: Thrombotic events can trigger local inflammatory responses and oxidative stress, further damaging placental cells and potentially contributing to pregnancy failure (Hosseinzadegan et al., 2017).

### **Specific Thrombophilia Implicated in RM:**

- Antiphospholipid Syndrome (APS): This acquired autoimmune disorder is the most strongly established thrombotic cause of RM (Del Papa et al., 2010). Antiphospholipid antibodies (APL) are believed to cause pregnancy loss not only via direct prothrombotic effects (e.g., increasing tissue factor expression, potentially interfering with the natural anticoagulant annexin A5 shield on trophoblasts) but also through direct inflammatory and complement-mediated injury to placental cells (Esmons, 1989, Shaker et al., 2021). Diagnosis relies on clinical criteria (specific pregnancy morbidity like recurrent early miscarriages or later fetal death) combined with persistently positive laboratory tests for relevant antibodies (lupus anticoagulant, anticardiolipin, anti-β2 glycoprotein-I)(Devreese et al., 2021).
- Inherited Thrombophilia: The role of common inherited thrombophilia, such as Factor V Leiden (FVL) and the Prothrombin G20210A mutation, in causing early RM is more controversial, with conflicting study results. While strongly associated with later pregnancy complications and VTE, their impact on first-trimester loss is less certain (Ahangari et al., 2019, Lin et al., 2019). Rarer, more potent inherited deficiencies (Protein C, Protein S, Antithrombin) may carry a higher risk, particularly when combined or severe (Van Dijk et al., 2020).

#### Management of Thrombosis in RM:

The established link between APS and RM has led to effective treatment strategies. Standard therapy involving low-dose aspirin (LDA) combined with prophylactic doses of heparin (usually low-molecular-weight heparin, LMWH) significantly improves live birth rates in women with APS and RM, potentially from <20% untreated to around 70-80% with treatment (S. Ahmed et al., 2016). The benefit of anticoagulation for women with RM and *inherited* thrombophilia (but no personal history of VTE) is not well-established, and treatment decisions are often individualized (Van Dijk et al., 2020).

## **CYP2C19** Gene Polymorphisms and Functional Variability

Cytochrome P450 2C19 (CYP2C19) is an enzyme belonging to the cytochrome P450 superfamily, located primarily in the liver. Like other P450 enzymes, it plays a crucial role in the metabolism

of a wide range of endogenous substances and exogenous compounds, including numerous clinically used drugs (Schenkman et al., 2003).

The *CYP2C19* gene is highly polymorphic, meaning common variations (alleles) exist within the population. These genetic variations can significantly alter the enzyme's activity, leading to substantial inter-individual differences in metabolic capacity (Xu et al., 2018). Several key alleles have been well characterized based on their functional impact **(Table 2)**:

- Normal Function (NF) Allele: The *CYP2C19\*1* allele is considered the wild-type or reference allele, associated with normal enzyme activity.
- Loss-of-Function (LOF) Alleles: Alleles like *CYP2C19\*2* (c.681G>A) and *CYP2C19\*3* (c.636G>A) result in non-functional or significantly reduced-function enzymes due to splicing defects or premature stop codons, respectively.
- Gain-of-Function (GOF) Allele: The *CYP2C19\*17* allele (c.-806C>T), located in the promoter region, leads to increased enzyme transcription and thus higher-than-normal enzyme activity.

Based on the combination of these alleles inherited by an individual (their genotype), distinct metabolic phenotypes are predicted:

- **Poor Metabolizers (PM):** Individuals with two LOF alleles (e.g., \*2/\*2, \*2/\*3, \*3/\*3).
- Intermediate Metabolizers (IM): Individuals with one NF allele and one LOF allele (e.g., \*1/\*2, \*1/\*3) or potentially combinations involving decreased function alleles not discussed here.
- Normal Metabolizers (NM): Individuals with two NF alleles (\*1/\*1). (Note: Often referred to as Extensive Metabolizers (EM) in older literature).
- Ultrarapid Metabolizers (UM): Individuals with one or two copies of the GOF allele (\*1/\*17, \*17/\*17).

The clinical significance of these polymorphisms is most profoundly demonstrated in pharmacogenetics, particularly concerning the antiplatelet drug clopidogrel. Clopidogrel is a prodrug requiring metabolic activation by CYP2C19 to exert its therapeutic effect (Brown et al., 2018a). Consequently:

- PMs and IMs exhibit reduced conversion of clopidogrel to its active form, leading to diminished platelet inhibition and increased risk of thrombotic events (e.g., stent thrombosis) in cardiovascular patients treated with standard doses (Gower et al., 2020)
- UMs may metabolize clopidogrel more rapidly, which could potentially alter drug exposure profiles, although the clinical impact regarding bleeding risk is less consistently defined than the thrombotic risk in PMs (Zanger et al., 2013).

While the impact of *CYP2C19* variants on drug metabolism, exemplified by clopidogrel, is wellestablished and has led to pharmacogenetic testing recommendations in specific clinical contexts (e.g., post-PCI) (Perry et al., 2013).The potential role of this enzyme's variability in other physiological processes is less understood. Given that CYP enzymes metabolize endogenous substrates, it is conceivable that genetically determined alterations in CYP2C19 activity could influence pathways relevant to hemostasis or pregnancy physiology, independent of drug exposure. However, direct evidence linking *CYP2C19* polymorphisms to baseline thrombosis risk or miscarriage susceptibility (outside of drug response contexts) is currently limited and speculative (Brown et al., 2018b).

Therefore, investigating the frequency distribution of these functionally relevant *CYP2C19* polymorphisms (\*2, \*3, \*17) in specific populations, such as women experiencing thrombosis-associated miscarriage in the TRNC, is a crucial first step. Such data can help determine if altered CYP2C19 function might be associated with the condition and provide a foundation for future mechanistic studies exploring potential non-pharmacogenetic roles of this enzyme (Alrajeh et al., 2022).

Allele	Common Nucleotide	Functional	Associated
	Change	Consequence	Phenotype
			Contribution
<i>CYP2C19*1</i>	Wild-type	Normal enzyme	Normal Function
		activity	(NF)
<i>CYP2C19*2</i>	c.681G>A	Splicing defect	Loss-of-Function
		leading to non-	(LOF)
		functional enzyme	
<i>CYP2C19*3</i>	c.636G>A	Premature stop codon	Loss-of-Function
		leading to non-	(LOF)
		functional enzyme	
<i>CYP2C19*17</i>	c806C>T	Increased	Gain of Function
		transcription leading	(COF)
		to increased activity	

 Table 2: Major functional alleles of the CYP2C19 gene

**Note**: Phenotypes like IM: Intermediate metabolizer; NM: Normal metabolizer; PM: Poor metabolizer; RM: Rapid metabolizer; UM: Ultra rapid metabolizer is determined by the combination of two alleles inherited.

# Figure 1: Example of CYP2C19 metabolic activity

Activation of the prodrug Clopidogrel. Polymorphisms in *CYP2C19* alter this activation, illustrating the enzyme's pharmacogenetic importance (Adapted from,Hasan et al., 2013).



# **CHAPTER III**

# **METHODOLOGY**

#### **Case Selection and Patient Information**

We identified cases from the Medical Genetic Laboratory at the Near East University Hospital. Women experiencing RMs with a confirmed history of thrombosis were considered for inclusion in the study. The diagnosis of thrombosis-associated miscarriage was based on clinical history, laboratory findings, and prior medical records, including hypercoagulability markers, genetic predisposition, and pregnancy complications related to thrombophilia. The inclusion criteria were women between the ages of 16 to 45 with a history of recurrent spontaneous miscarriage, diagnosis or suspicion of thrombophilia disorders, availability of venous peripheral blood samples for genetic analysis, and Turkish Cypriot ethnicity. The exclusion criteria were insufficient quantity and quality of DNA sample, age, and other systemic diseases unrelated to thrombosis.

#### **Sample Collection**

Peripheral venous blood samples were collected using glass syringes into 2.5 mL EDTA tubes from 45 women with recent histories of recurrent spontaneous miscarriages, who presented to the laboratory for thrombosis gene panel testing between January and March 2025. DNA concentration and purity were subsequently evaluated.

## **DNA Extraction**

Genomic DNA was extracted from whole blood using the Pure Link Genomic DNA Mini Kit (Invitrogen, Carlsbad, CA, USA) according to the manufacturer's instructions.

# Genetic Analysis Using Clopidogrel Real-Time PCR Kits (3 Mutations)

# **CYP2C19** Genotyping

Genotyping for CYP2C19 loss-of-function alleles \*2 (c.681G>A, rs4244285) and \*3 (c.636G>A, rs4986893), and the gain-of-function allele \*17 (c.-806C>T, rs12248560) was performed using a commercially available real-time PCR kit SNP Biotechnology R&D Ltd CLOPIDOGREL REAL TIME PCR KIT, Cat. No: 113R-20-03. Research has implicated genetic variations in the *CYP2C19* isozyme as at least partly responsible for the variable antiplatelet response seen with clopidogrel.

## **Product Specification**

The assays utilize the 5' nuclease (TaqMan®) principle for allele discrimination. Reactions were prepared using the provided master mixes containing allele-specific primers and probes labeled with FAM, JOE/HEX, and Texas Red dyes, along with an internal control (CY5 dye). PCR amplification and real-time detection were carried out by the Real-Time PCR detection system. An increase in fluorescent signal (CT) is proportional to the amount of the specific PCR product. Each isolated DNA should be tested with wild-type and mutant real-time PCR master mixes (Table 3).

Fable 3: Contents of Clopidogrel real-time PCR kits for 3 mutations (636 G>A *3, 681 G	>A
2, and 806 C>T *17)	

TUBES/ Reagent (20 rxns)	MUTATIONS	DYE
Clopidogrel masters mix 1(400µL)	636 wild-type (G)	FAM
	806 wild-type (C)	JOE/HEX
	681 wild-type (G)	Texas red
Control DNA (45µL)	Internal Control	CY5
Clopidogrel masters mix 2(400µL)	636 Mutant (A)	FAM
	806 Mutant (T)	JOE/HEX
	681 Mutant (A)	Texas red
Control DNA (45µL)	Internal Control	CY5

rxns: Reaction, FAM: Green JOE/HEZ; Yellow, Texas Red; Red, CY5; Purple

## **PCR Program and Procedure**

Commercial kits (Cat. No: 113R-20-03) offer pre-validated reagents (**Table 3**) and protocols for CYP2C19 genotyping, streamlining the process through careful primer and probe design, optimized cycling conditions (**Table 4**), and appropriate detection methods.

1. Different tubes were used to prepare each of the mix.

2. The master mixes were gently mixed by pipetting before beginning the experiment.

3. For each sample, 20  $\mu$ L master mix was pipetted using micropipettes with sterile filter tips into each optical white strip or tube.

4.5µlbof DNA was added to each tube.

5. The programme was run with the details in the table below.

Note: Master mixes include HotstartTaq DNA polymerase

STAGE	TEMPERATURE	TIME	
Initial Denaturation	95 °C	3min	Holding
Denaturation	95 °C	15 sec	30 cycles
Annealing	60 °C	1min	30 cycles

Table 4: PCR program for CYP2C19 genotyping cycling conditions

# **Statistical Analysis**

The Hardy-Weinberg Equilibrium (HWE) was assessed using the Pearson Chi-Square ( $\chi^2$ ) test to determine allele frequencies and genotype mutation distribution. A p-value greater than (> 0.05)signified the population is in HWE, indicating no significant evolutionary pressures. The exact HWE calculations for performed using online tools available were at https://wpcalc.com/en/equilibrium-hardy-weinberg/ and https://www.graphpad.com/quickcalcs/pValue2/, which provide user-friendly interfaces for determining both expected genotype frequencies and statistical significance. Additionally, Prism software (GraphPad Software, Inc., San Diego, CA, USA) was utilized to support the statistical analysis and visualization of the results.

### **CHAPTER IV**

# **RESULTS**

The Near East University Scientific Research Ethics Committee granted ethical approval for this study (Reference No: YDU/2024/124-1837). All participants in the research provided written consent with information prior to participation.

#### **Case Selection and Patient Information**

Initially, 100 women referred to the Near East University Medical Genetics laboratory with a history of thrombosis-associated miscarriage were identified as potential participants. From this group, 58 individuals (58%) were excluded primarily due to insufficient DNA quantity or quality obtained from available samples, or not meeting age criteria.

Blood samples were successfully collected and processed for DNA extraction from the remaining 42 Turkish Cypriot women who met the inclusion criteria. The final study cohort (N=42) consisted of female participants with a median age of 25 years (range: 16 to 42 years). All included participants had a documented history of at least one thrombosis-associated miscarriage and provided consent for genetic analysis.

## **CYP2C19** Allele and Genotype Frequencies

Genotyping for *CYP2C19* variants \*3 (636 G>A), \*2 (681 G>A), and \*17 (-806 C>T) was performed on the cohort (N=42). Due to sample-specific amplification issues, the final number of successfully genotyped samples varied slightly for each variant. The observed genotype distributions, calculated allele frequencies, and assessment of HWE for each polymorphism are presented below.

## CYP2C19\*3 (636 G>A) Variant

Genotyping for the *CYP2C19\*3* variant was successful for 37 of the 42 participants (88.1%). The observed genotype counts were: GG n=14 (37.8%), GA n=17 (45.9%), and AA n=6 (16.2%). The calculated allele frequencies were G: 0.608 and A: 0.4. The genotype distribution for *CYP2C19\*3* conformed to HWE ( $\chi^2 = 0.079$ , p = 0.9), The observed genotype frequencies are consistent with what would be expected under random mating, as indicated by the high p-value (0.9). **(Table 1)**.

Table 1: Genotype and Allele Frequencies for *CYP2C19\*3* (636 G>A) in the Study Cohort (N=37)

Genotypes	Observed N (%)	Expected N	Allele	Frequency	HWE Test
GG	14 (37.8%)	14	G	0.6	χ²=0.079
GA	17 (45.9%)	18	А	0.40	p=0.900
AA	6 (16.2%)	6			
Total	37 (100%)	38		1.01	

(*Note:* Small difference in total Expected N due to rounding) P 0.9 (bigger than P = 0.05). Not significant. The table presents statistics on the distribution of the CYP2C19 Gene Variations 636 G>A (\*3) mutation in a sample population. It lists the expected and observed frequency of incidence, with predicted frequencies computed using a theoretical distribution under the null hypothesis. The observed frequencies represent the actual data obtained. The difference between the observed and expected values is quantified using the chi-square statistic ( $\chi^2$ ), which is computed as 0.079. The p-value (0,9) indicates that the observed difference from the predicted frequencies may not be statistically significant, indicating that the null hypothesis cannot be ruled out at conventional significance levels. The null hypothesis suggests that genetic drift, selection, or other processes controlling evolution through Hardy-Weinberg equilibrium may be controlling gene distribution.

#### *CYP2C19\*2* (681 G>A) Variant

Genotyping for the *CYP2C19\*2* variant was successful for all 42 participants (100%). The observed genotype counts were: GG n=20 (47.6%), GA n=12 (28.6%), and AA n=10 (23.8%). The calculated allele frequencies were G: 0.76 and A: 0.4. The result is statistically significant. A statistically significant deviation from HWE was observed in the genotype distribution of CYP2C19\*2 ( $\chi^2 = 9.63$ ) p = 0.01). (Table 2).

Table 2: Genotype and Allele Frequencies for CYP2C19\*2 (681 G>A) in the Study Cohort (N=42)

Genotypes	Observed N	Expected N	Allele	Frequency	HWE Test
	(%)				

GG	20 (47.6%)	24	G	0.76	χ²=9.63
GA	12 (28.6%)	24	А	0.4	p=0.01*
AA	10 (23.8%)	6			
Total	42 (100%)	54		1.16	

\**Indicates significant deviation from HWE*. P 0.01 (smaller than P = 0.05).

The table presents statistical analysis results for the CYP2C19 Gene 681 G>A (\*2) mutation, revealing expected and observed frequencies of the normal genotype (GG) and the heterozygous mutant genotype (GA), with instances of the homozygous mutant genotype (AA) found. The expected frequencies are 16 for GG, 19 for GA, and 6 for AA. The observed frequencies of alleles G and A are 0.76 and 0.4, respectively. The difference between observed and expected frequencies is measured using the chi-square statistic ( $\chi^2$ ), with a calculated 9,63. p value is calculated as 0.01. The null hypothesis suggests that genetic drift, selection, or other processes controlling evolution through Hardy-Weinberg equilibrium may not be controlling gene distribution. The P-value is smaller than 0.05 (X2 is bigger than 3.84 for the degree of freedom is 1), therefore the null hypothesis is rejected, the population is not in Hardy–Weinberg equilibrium.

## *CYP2C19*\*17 (-806 C>T) Variant

Genotyping for the *CYP2C19*\*17 variant was successful for all 41 participants (100%). The observed genotype counts were: CC n=12 (31.0%), CT n=21 (50.0%), and TT n=6 (19.0%). The calculated allele frequencies were C: 0.84 and T: 0.45. The result is statistically significant. ( $\chi^2 = 7.774$ , p = 0.0082) (**Table 3**). The P-value taken as 0.01 indicates significant correlation between the CYP2C19 Gene 806 C>T (\*17) genetic variant and trait or outcome. The P-value is smaller than 0.05 (X2 is bigger than 3.84 for degree of freedom is 1), therefore the null hypothesis is rejected, the population is not in Hardy–Weinberg proportions (equilibrium). Deviation of expected from observed is significant. If a population's frequencies do not match those expected from Hardy-Weinberg, then the population is not in Hardy-Weinberg. Perhaps there is natural selection or non-random mating. Keeping in mind that the Hardy-Weinberg population is accepted as a scientific ideal, but it doesn't exist.

Table 3: Genotype and Allele Frequencies for CYP2C19\*17 (-806 C>T) in the Study Cohort (N=42).

Genotypes	Observed N	Expected N	Allele	Frequency	HWE Test
	(%)				
CC	12 (29.0%)	29	С	0.84	χ²=7.774
СТ	21 (51.0%)	15.5	Т	0.45	p=0.0082
TT	6 (19.5%)	8.3			
Total	41 (100%)	52.8		1.29	

*Note: Small difference in total Expected N due to rounding.* P = 0.0082 (smaller than P = 0.05). The table shows the distribution of the CYP2C19 Gene Variations 806 C>T (\*17) mutation in a sample population, comparing expected and observed frequencies. The chi-square statistic quantifies the difference between the observed and expected values, with a p-value of 0.01, smaller than 0.05 and X2 is bigger than 3.84 for the degree of freedom is 1 suggesting that the observed difference statistically significant, The P-value is smaller than 0.05 (X2 is bigger than 3.84 for the degree of freedom is 1), indicating the null hypothesis can be rejected, and the population is not in Hardy–Weinberg equilibrium.

## **CHAPTER V**

# DISCUSSION

The cytochrome P450 superfamily comprises a diverse group of enzymes crucial for metabolizing endogenous and exogenous compounds. Within this superfamily, CYP2C19 is notable for its genetic polymorphism, first described in 1984 concerning the metabolism of the anticonvulsant mephenytoin (Mehta et al., 2023, Zhu et al., 2016. The *CYP2C19* gene, characterized in 1991, exhibits numerous variants that can alter enzyme function. The identification of loss-of-function alleles (like \*2 and \*3, first reported in 1994) and gain-of-function alleles (like \*17) highlighted the significant inter-individual variability in CYP2C19 activity (Zhu et al., 2016). While much research has focused on the pharmacogenetic implications of these variants, particularly for drug metabolism, their potential roles in modulating endogenous pathways relevant to physiological processes like hemostasis or pregnancy maintenance remain less explored (Shah, 2005).

This study investigated the frequencies of key *CYP2C19* polymorphisms (\*2, \*3, \*17) in a cohort of 42 women referred to the Near East University Medical Genetics laboratory due to a history of thrombosis-associated miscarriage in the TRNC. Following exclusions based on DNA quality, quantity, and age criteria, the final analysis included genotype data from 37 to 42 individuals for the different variants (specifically, N=37 for \*3, N=42 for \*2, and N=41 for \*17). The median age of the included participants was 25 years, all with a history of at least one thrombosis-associated miscarriage.

The *CYP2C19\*3* variant (636 G>A) results in early translation termination, leading to an incomplete and non-functional protein enzyme. Individuals homozygous for this allele lack CYP2C19 activity. The *CYP2C19\*2* variant (681 G>A) creates a splicing defect, also resulting in a loss-of-function (LOF) enzyme with significantly impaired activity. Individuals carrying one (\*1/\*2) or two (\*2/\*2) copies of this allele exhibit reduced enzyme function. Conversely, the *CYP2C19\*17* variant (-806 C>T) is located in the gene's promoter region and leads to increased transcription and, consequently, higher enzyme activity, representing a gain-of-function (GOF) phenotype. The altered enzyme activity associated with these common polymorphisms (\*2, \*3, \*17) could potentially influence biological pathways beyond drug metabolism, potentially

impacting susceptibility to conditions like thrombosis or complications during pregnancy, although the specific endogenous substrates and mechanisms are not fully elucidated.

Recurrent pregnancy loss (RPL), which affects approximately 5% of women, is a significant and emotionally taxing condition. reproductive-aged women. Miscarriage, defined as pregnancy loss before 20 weeks of gestation, has numerous established causes, including chromosomal issues, uterine anomalies, endocrine disorders, and lifestyle factors (Cao et al., 2022). Importantly, thrombophilia, an inherited or acquired predisposition to thrombosis, is recognized as a significant contributor, potentially accounting for up to 40% of RPL cases, particularly early losses (D'Uva, 2010). Well-studied genetic risk factors for thrombophilia-associated RPL include variants in Factor V (Leiden G1691A) and Prothrombin (G20210A) genes (Padda et al., 2021). Emerging evidence also points towards potential roles for variants in genes like *PAI-1* (associated with hypofibrinolysis) and *MTHFR* (related to hyperhomocysteinemia), although consensus on their definitive contribution to RPL requires further large-scale investigation (Maghsudlu et al., 2024). Acquired thrombophilia, primarily antiphospholipid syndrome (APS), is another major factor where autoantibodies interfere with coagulation processes.

Against this background of known genetic and acquired thrombophilia, exploring other potential genetic contributors is essential. Genetic studies within the Cypriot population have highlighted significant variability. Research in Turkish Cypriots identified considerable heterozygosity for polymorphisms related to metabolic and thrombotic risk (*MTHFR C677T, A1298C*; Factor VII G353A), providing foundational data for this population (Ergoren et al., 2019). Similarly, studies in Greek Cypriots revealed notable frequencies of established thrombogenic mutations (Factor V Leiden, Prothrombin G20210A, *MTHFR C677T*), underscoring a potential genetic predisposition to thrombosis on the island (Papageorgiou et al., 2009). Our study adds to this by focusing specifically on *CYP2C19* variants within TRNC women experiencing thrombosis-associated miscarriage. The results indicated that the *CYP2C19\*3* allele frequency was determined to be 0.40 (40%). The genotype frequencies that were found aligned with the concept of HWE.

The CYP2C19\*3 variant was successfully genotyped in 37 out of 42 participants (88.1%). The genotype distribution was GG in 14 individuals (37.8%), GA in 17 (45.9%), and AA in 6 (16.2%). Allele frequencies were G: 0.608 and A: 0.4. The genotype distribution conformed to Hardy-Weinberg Equilibrium (HWE) ( $\chi^2 = 0.079$ , p = 0.9), indicating no significant deviation from

random mating patterns. This suggests that the CYP2C19\*3 variant is distributed in the population as expected, without influence from selection, population structure, or genotyping errors.

In contrast, the CYP2C19\*2 variant was successfully genotyped in all 42 participants (100%). Observed genotype counts were GG: 20 (47.6%), GA: 12 (28.6%), and AA: 10 (23.8%), with allele frequencies of G: 0.76 and A: 0.4. A significant deviation from HWE was observed ( $\chi^2 = 9.63$ , p = 0.01), suggesting a possible selection pressure, population stratification, or other non-random mating influences acting on this allele in the studied population.

The CYP2C19\*17 gain-of-function (GOF) variant was also successfully genotyped in all 41 participants (100%). Genotype counts were CC: 12 (31.0%), CT: 21 (50.0%), and TT: 6 (19.0%). The allele frequencies were C: 0.84 and T: 0.45. Like CYP2C19\*2, the distribution deviated significantly from HWE ( $\chi^2 = 7.774$ , p = 0.0082), which may suggest underlying non-random genetic structure or selection in this cohort. These LOF and GOF allele distributions point to a complex metabolic profile within this population, where both reduced and increased CYP2C19 enzyme activity may be present.

Notably, 27% (10/37) of individuals heterozygous for CYP2C19\*3 were also heterozygous for both CYP2C19\*2 and CYP2C19\*17. Of the six individuals with the AA genotype (homozygous LOF) for CYP2C19\*3, five also had the AA genotype for CYP2C19\*2; this corresponds to 5/6 in 37 and 5/10 in 42 for CYP2C19\*2. Additionally, 50% of the individuals with the AA genotype for CYP2C19\*3 were also AA for CYP2C19\*2 and TT (GOF) for CYP2C19\*17. This combination may have contradictory functional outcomes but could ultimately lead to altered or imbalanced CYP2C19 enzyme activity.

This study, however, faces several limitations. The most significant is the small sample size (N=37-42), which limits statistical power and increases the risk of Type II errors, potentially failing to detect genuine associations. The cross-sectional design prevents the establishment of causality. Critically, the study lacks correlation with detailed clinical outcomes (e.g., specific type/timing of miscarriage, documented thrombotic events, placental pathology findings) and does not include functional assays to assess CYP2C19 activity directly or investigate its impact on potential endogenous substrates relevant to hemostasis or pregnancy. The lack of a control group such as healthy women from the TRNC with successful pregnancies or women who experienced

miscarriages unrelated to thrombosis limits the ability to assess whether the observed allele frequencies in women with thrombosis-associated miscarriage differ significantly from those in the general population or other comparison groups. The genetic scope was limited to three *CYP2C19* variants, and potential influences from other genetic, environmental, or acquired risk factors were not assessed. Finally, rigorous quality control reporting for genotyping, crucial in small cohorts, should be detailed.

Future research should address these limitations. Larger cohort studies, ideally multi-center and longitudinal, are necessary, including carefully matched control groups. Comprehensive assessment should include detailed clinical data, investigation of a wider panel of genetic variants related to thrombophilia and pregnancy outcomes, and analysis of potential gene-gene and gene-environment interactions. Incorporating functional assays exploring the impact of *CYP2C19* variants on relevant endogenous pathways (if candidates are identified) would be highly valuable. Such studies could clarify whether *CYP2C19* polymorphisms represent an independent risk factor for thrombosis-associated miscarriage in the TRNC population.

## **CHAPTER VI**

# CONCLUSION

This study is the inaugural examination of how often the major CYP2C19 polymorphisms (\*2, \*3, \*17) occur in women living in the TRNC who have undergone thrombosis-related miscarriage. Our findings reveal the presence of significant genetic variability within the *CYP2C19* gene in this cohort, with notable frequencies observed for both loss-of-function (\*2 and \*3) and gain-of-function (\*17) alleles. Specifically, the difference between observed and expected frequencies is measured using the chi-square statistic ( $\chi^2$ ). In *CYP2C19* variants \*3 (636 G>A), the P-value is smaller than 0.05 (X2 is bigger than 3.84 for the degree of freedom is 1), therefore, the null hypothesis is rejected, and the population is not in Hardy–Weinberg proportions (equilibrium). The deviation of the expected from the observed is significant. 0.4 (38%) for the \*2 LOF variant, and 0.45 (44%) for the \*17 GOF variant. While these polymorphisms are well-known for altering the metabolism of certain drugs, this study explored their presence in the context of susceptibility to thrombosis-associated miscarriage itself. The prevalence of alleles conferring altered enzyme function in this specific patient group warrants further investigation to understand if *CYP2C19* is implicated in the pathogenesis of this condition, potentially through pathways not associated with drug metabolism.

This research represents a foundational step in characterizing the *CYP2C19* genetic landscape within this high-risk population in the TRNC. However, due to limitations, particularly the small sample size and lack of a control group and clinical correlation, no definitive conclusions can be drawn regarding an association between these polymorphisms and thrombosis-associated miscarriage risk. Future, larger studies incorporating control groups, detailed clinical phenotyping, and potentially functional analyses are required to elucidate the possible contribution of *CYP2C19* variants to the complex etiology of thrombosis-related pregnancy complications in this population.

## Recommendation

Based on the findings of this study, which determined the frequencies of *CYP2C19* alleles (\*2, \*3, \*17) in women with thrombosis-associated miscarriage in the TRNC, the following recommendations are made:

- Acknowledge Population-Specific Data: This study provides initial, valuable data on the frequency of CYP2C19 polymorphisms with functional significance (\*2, \*3, \*17) within a specific high-risk group (women with thrombosis-associated miscarriage) in the TRNC. The observed frequencies, particularly the notable presence of both loss-of-function (\*2, \*3) and gain-of-function (\*17) alleles, contribute to understanding the genetic landscape of this population.
- 2. Prioritize Established Thrombophilia Screening: While this study explored CYP2C19, current clinical practice for investigating recurrent or thrombosis-associated miscarriage should continue to prioritize screening for established thrombophilia risk factors (e.g., Factor V Leiden, Prothrombin G20210A mutations, antiphospholipid antibodies) based on existing guidelines and individual patient history. Routine CYP2C19 testing is *not* currently recommended for assessing baseline thrombosis or miscarriage risk based solely on these frequency findings.
- 3. **Further Research is Essential:** The primary recommendation arising from this study is the need for further, more extensive research:
  - Larger Cohort Studies: Conduct larger studies with adequate statistical power, including appropriately matched control groups (e.g., healthy women from the TRNC with successful pregnancies, women with miscarriage unrelated to thrombosis) to determine if the observed *CYP2C19* allele frequencies are significantly different in women with thrombosis-associated miscarriage compared to controls.
  - Clinical Correlation: Future studies must correlate *CYP2C19* genotypes with detailed clinical phenotypes, including specific miscarriage characteristics, documented thrombotic events (type, location), placental pathology, and response to any treatments received.

- Investigate HWE Deviation: The observed deviation from HWE for the CYP2C19\*2 variant warrants investigation in larger samples to determine if it represents a genuine association, sampling bias, population stratification, or a chance finding due to the small sample size.
- Broader Genetic Context: Integrate *CYP2C19* analysis with screening for other known genetic and acquired thrombophilia risk factors to understand potential interactions and build comprehensive risk profiles.
- Functional Studies: If feasible, explore potential mechanisms by which CYP2C19 variants might influence endogenous pathways related to coagulation, vascular function, or pregnancy maintenance, independent of drug metabolism.
- 4. Caution Regarding Direct Clinical Application: Avoid extrapolating these frequency findings directly into immediate changes in clinical management regarding antiplatelet therapy choices *unless* a patient has a separate, established indication for such therapy and *CYP2C19* testing is performed for standard pharmacogenetic reasons (e.g., prior to Clopidogrel initiation for cardiovascular indications). This study did not assess drug response or establish *CYP2C19* as an independent risk factor for miscarriage.
- 5. Future Guideline Consideration (Conditional): Only if future, robust research definitively establishes a clinically significant association between specific CYP2C19 genotypes and the risk of thrombosis-associated miscarriage, or demonstrates utility in guiding preventative strategies in this context, should incorporation into local clinical guidelines be considered.

## References

- Ahangari, N., Doosti, M., Mousavifar, N., Attaran, M., Shahrokhzadeh, S., Memarpour, S., & Ghayoor Karimiani, E. (2019). Hereditary thrombophilia genetic variants in recurrent pregnancy loss. *Archives of Gynecology and Obstetrics*, 300(3), 777–782. doi: 10.1007/s00404-019-05224-7
- Ahmed, I., Majeed, A., & Powell, R. (2007). Heparin induced thrombocytopenia: Diagnosis and management update. In Postgraduate Medical Journal (Vol. 83, Issue 983, pp. 575–582). doi: 10.1136/pgmj.2007.059188
- Ahmed, S., Zhou, Z., Zhou, J., & Chen, S. Q. (2016). Pharmacogenomics of Drug Metabolizing Enzymes and Transporters: Relevance to Precision Medicine. In Genomics, Proteomics and Bioinformatics (Vol. 14, Issue 5, pp. 298–313). Beijing Genomics Institute. doi: 10.1016/j.gpb.2016.03.008
- Al-Allawi, N. A. S., Shamdeen, M. Y., Mohammed, Q. O., & Ahmed, A. S. (2014). Activated Protein C Resistance and Antiphospholipid Antibodies in Recurrent Fetal Loss: Experience of a Single Referral Center in Northern Iraq. *Indian Journal of Hematology and Blood Transfusion*, 30(4), 364–369. doi: 10.1007/s12288-014-0348-6
- Alecsandru, D., Klimczak, A. M., Garcia Velasco, J. A., Pirtea, P., & Franasiak, J. M. (2021).
   Immunologic causes and thrombophilia in recurrent pregnancy loss. In Fertility and Sterility (Vol. 115, Issue 3, pp. 561–566). Elsevier Inc. doi: 10.1016/j.fertnstert.2021.01.017
- Alrajeh, K. Y., & Roman, Y. M. (2022). The frequency of major CYP2C19 genetic polymorphisms in women of Asian, Native Hawaiian and Pacific Islander subgroups. *Personalized Medicine*, 19(4), 327–339. doi: 10.2217/pme-2021-0175
- Alsheef, M. A., Alabbad, A. M., Albassam, R. A., Alarfaj, R. M., Zaidi, A. R. Z., Al-Arfaj, O., & Abu-Shaheen, A. (2020). Pregnancy and Venous Thromboembolism: Risk Factors, Trends, Management, and Mortality. *BioMed Research International*, 2020. doi: 10.1155/2020/4071892
- Bagot, C. N., & Arya, R. (2008). Virchow and his triad: A question of attribution. In British Journal of Haematology (Vol. 143, Issue 2, pp. 180–190). doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2141.2008.07323.x
- Brown, S. A., & Pereira, N. (2018a). Pharmacogenomic impact of CYP2C19 variation on clopidogrel therapy in precision cardiovascular medicine. In Journal of Personalized Medicine (Vol. 8, Issue 1). MDPI AG. doi: 10.3390/jpm8010008

- Brown, S. A., & Pereira, N. (2018b). Pharmacogenomic impact of CYP2C19 variation on clopidogrel therapy in precision cardiovascular medicine. In Journal of Personalized Medicine (Vol. 8, Issue 1). MDPI AG. doi: 10.3390/jpm8010008
- Cao, C., Bai, S., Zhang, J., Sun, X., Meng, A., & Chen, H. (2022). Understanding recurrent pregnancy loss: Recent advances on its etiology, clinical diagnosis, and management. In Medical Review (Vol. 2, Issue 6, pp. 570–589). Walter de Gruyter GmbH. doi: 10.1515/mr-2022-0030
- Chen, W., Liu, Y., Deng, X., Li, B., Wang, H., Wei, G., Chen, K., & Wang, S. (2024). CYP2C19 Loss-of-Function is an Associated Risk Factor for Premature Coronary Artery Disease: A Case–Control Study. *International Journal of General Medicine*, *Volume 17*, 5049–5058. doi: 10.2147/IJGM.S486187
- Chiu, J. J., & Chien, S. (2011). Effects of disturbed flow on vascular endothelium:
  Pathophysiological basis and clinical perspectives. In Physiological Reviews (Vol. 91, Issue 1, pp. 327–387). doi: 10.1152/physrev.00047.2009
- Cines, D. B., Pollak, E. S., Buck, C. A., Loscalzo, J., Zimmerman, G. A., Mcever, R. P., Pober, J. S., Wick, T. M., Konkle, B. A., Schwartz, B. S., Barnathan, E. S., Mccrae, K. R., Hug, B. A., Schmidt, A.-M., & Stern, D. M. (1998). Endothelial Cells in Physiology and in the Pathophysiology of Vascular Disorders. In The Journal of The American Society of Hematology (Vol. 91, Issue 10).
- Coulam, C. B., Jeyendran, R. S., Fishel, L. A., & Roussev, R. (2006). Multiple thrombophilic gene mutations rather than specific gene mutations are risk factors for recurrent miscarriage. *American Journal of Reproductive Immunology*, 55(5), 360–368. doi: 10.1111/j.1600-0897.2006.00376.x
- Del Papa, N., & Vaso, N. (2010). Management of antiphospholipid syndrome. *Therapeutic* Advances in Musculoskeletal Disease, 2(4), 221–227. doi: 10.1177/1759720X10365969
- Devreese, K. M. J., Zuily, S., & Meroni, P. L. (2021). Role of antiphospholipid antibodies in the diagnosis of antiphospholipid syndrome. *Journal of Translational Autoimmunity*, 4. doi: 10.1016/j.jtauto.2021.100134
- Dimitriadis, E., Menkhorst, E., Saito, S., Kutteh, W. H., & Brosens, J. J. (2020). Recurrent pregnancy loss. In Nature Reviews Disease Primers (Vol. 6, Issue 1). Nature Research. doi: 10.1038/s41572-020-00228-z
- D'Uva, M. (2010). Recurrent Pregnancy Loss and Thrombophilia. *Journal of Clinical Medicine Research*. doi: 10.4021/jocmr2010.02.260w

- El Ghannudi, S., Ohlmann, P., Meyer, N., Wiesel, M. L., Radulescu, B., Chauvin, M., Bareiss, P., Gachet, C., & Morel, O. (2010). Impact of P2Y12 inhibition by clopidogrel on cardiovascular mortality in unselected patients treated by percutaneous coronary angioplasty: A prospective registry. *JACC: Cardiovascular Interventions*, *3*(6), 648–656. doi: 10.1016/j.jcin.2010.03.003
- Ergoren, M. C., & Tulay, P. (2019). Investigation of potential biomarkers for thrombosis related diseases in Turkish Cypriot population. *International Journal of Biological Macromolecules*, 124, 515–518. doi: 10.1016/j.ijbiomac.2018.11.176
- Esmons, C. T. (1989). The Roles of Protein C and Thrombomodulin in the Regulation of Blood Coagulation" The Role of the Blood Vessel in the Control of Coagulation Protein C and the Regulation of Coagulation. In THE JOURNAL OF BIOLOGICAL CHEMISTRY (Vol. 264, Issue 9).
- Gower, M. N., Ratner, L. R., Williams, A. K., Rossi, J. S., Stouffer, G. A., & Lee, C. R. (2020). Clinical utility of cyp2c19 genotype-guided antiplatelet therapy in patients at risk of adverse cardiovascular and cerebrovascular events: A review of emerging evidence. In Pharmacogenomics and Personalized Medicine (Vol. 13, pp. 239–252). Dove Medical Press Ltd. doi: 10.2147/PGPM.S231475
- Hamulyák, E. N., Scheres, L. J. J., Goddijn, M., & Middeldorp, S. (2021). Antithrombotic therapy to prevent recurrent pregnancy loss in antiphospholipid syndrome—What is the evidence? *Journal of Thrombosis and Haemostasis*, 19(5), 1174–1185. doi: 10.1111/jth.15290
- Hasan, M. S., Basri, H. Bin, Hin, L. P., & Stanslas, J. (2013). Genetic polymorphisms and drug interactions leading to clopidogrel resistance: Why the asian population requires special attention. *International Journal of Neuroscience*, 123(3), 143–154. doi: 10.3109/00207454.2012.744308
- Hosseinzadegan, H., & Tafti, D. K. (2017). Prediction of Thrombus Growth: Effect of Stenosis and Reynolds Number. *Cardiovascular Engineering and Technology*, 8(2), 164–181. doi: 10.1007/s13239-017-0304-3
- Khan, S., & Dickerman, J. D. (2006). Hereditary thrombophilia. In Thrombosis Journal (Vol. 4). doi: 10.1186/1477-9560-4-15
- Kumar, D. R., Hanlin, E. R., Glurich, I., Mazza, J. J., & Yale, S. H. (2010). Virchow's contribution to the understanding of thrombosis and cellular biology. *Clinical Medicine and Research*, 8(3–4), 168–172. doi: 10.3121/cmr.2009.866
- Kupferminc, M. J. (2003). *Thrombophilia and pregnancy*. Retrieved from http://www.rbej.com/content/1/1/111

- Lei, J., Zhao, M., Li, L., Ji, B., Xu, T., Sun, M., Chen, J., Qiu, J., & Gao, Q. (2022). Research progress of placental vascular pathophysiological changes in pregnancy-induced hypertension and gestational diabetes mellitus. In Frontiers in Physiology (Vol. 13). Frontiers Media S.A. doi: 10.3389/fphys.2022.954636
- Leiva, O., Hobbs, G., Ravid, K., & Libby, P. (2022). Cardiovascular Disease in Myeloproliferative Neoplasms: JACC: CardioOncology State-of-the-Art Review. In JACC: CardioOncology (Vol. 4, Issue 2, pp. 166–182). Elsevier Inc. doi: 10.1016/j.jaccao.2022.04.002
- Lichota, A., Szewczyk, E. M., & Gwozdzinski, K. (2020). Factors affecting the formation and treatment of thrombosis by natural and synthetic compounds. In International Journal of Molecular Sciences (Vol. 21, Issue 21, pp. 1–54). MDPI AG. doi: 10.3390/ijms21217975
- Lin, Z., Li, Q., Sun, Y., Huang, J., Wang, W., Fu, J., Xu, J., & Zeng, D. (2019). Interactions between genetic variants involved in the folate metabolic pathway and serum lipid, homocysteine levels on the risk of recurrent spontaneous abortion. *Lipids in Health and Disease*, 18(1). doi: 10.1186/s12944-019-1083-7
- Liu, X., Chen, Y., Ye, C., Xing, D., Wu, R., Li, F., Chen, L., & Wang, T. (2021). Hereditary thrombophilia and recurrent pregnancy loss: A systematic review and meta-analysis. In Human Reproduction (Vol. 36, Issue 5, pp. 1213–1229). Oxford University Press. doi: 10.1093/humrep/deab010
- Maghsudlu, M., Noroozi, Z., Zokaei, E., & Motevaseli, E. (2024). Systematic review and metaanalysis of association between plasminogen activator inhibitor-1 4G/5G polymorphism and recurrent pregnancy loss: an update. In Thrombosis Journal (Vol. 22, Issue 1). BioMed Central Ltd. doi: 10.1186/s12959-024-00612-9
- Magnus, M. C., Wilcox, A. J., Morken, N. H., Weinberg, C. R., & Håberg, S. E. (2019). Role of maternal age and pregnancy history in risk of miscarriage: Prospective register based study. *BMJ (Online)*, 364. doi: 10.1136/bmj.1869
- Marco-Rico, A., & Marco-Vera, P. (2023). Antithrombin Deficiency and Thrombosis: A Wide Clinical Scenario Reported in a Single Institution. *Journal of Blood Medicine*, *14*, 499–506. doi: 10.2147/JBM.S416355
- Mehta, M. P., Gajjar, N. D., Patel, R. J., Joshi, L. P., & Shah, G. B. (2023). Prevalence of CYP2C9 and CYP2C19 variants and the impact on clopidogrel efficacy in patients having CYPC19\*2 variant. *Indian Journal of Pharmacology*, 55(1), 27–33. doi: 10.4103/ijp.ijp\_706\_22

- Nana, M., Morgan, H., Moore, S., Lee, Z. X., Ang, E., & Nelson-Piercy, C. (2021). Antiplatelet therapy in pregnancy: A systematic review. In Pharmacological Research (Vol. 168). Academic Press. doi: 10.1016/j.phrs.2021.105547
- Neilson, J. P., Gyte, G. M., Hickey, M., Vazquez, J. C., & Dou, L. (2010). Medical treatments for incomplete miscarriage (less than 24 weeks). In Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews. John Wiley & Sons, Ltd. doi: 10.1002/14651858.cd007223.pub2
- Padda, J., Khalid, K., Mohan, A., Pokhriyal, S., Batra, N., Hitawala, G., Cooper, A. C., & Jean-Charles, G. (2021). Factor V Leiden G1691A and Prothrombin Gene G20210A Mutations on Pregnancy Outcome. *Cureus*. doi: 10.7759/cureus.17185
- Palta, S., Saroa, R., & Palta, A. (2014). Overview of the coagulation system. In Indian Journal of Anaesthesia (Vol. 58, Issue 5, pp. 515–523). Indian Society of Anaesthetists. doi: 10.4103/0019-5049.144643
- Patil, R., Ghosh, K., Vora, S., & Shetty, S. (2015). Inherited and acquired thrombophilia in Indian women experiencing unexplained recurrent pregnancy loss. *Blood Cells, Molecules, and Diseases*, 55(3), 200–205. doi: 10.1016/j.bcmd.2015.06.008
- Perry, C. G., & Shuldiner, A. R. (2013). Pharmacogenomics of anti-platelet therapy: How much evidence is enough for clinical implementation? In Journal of Human Genetics (Vol. 58, Issue 6, pp. 339–345). doi: 10.1038/jhg.2013.41
- Phillips, D., Deipolyi, A. R., Hesketh, R. L., Midia, M., & Oklu, R. (2014). Pelvic congestion syndrome: Etiology of pain, diagnosis, and clinical management. In Journal of Vascular and Interventional Radiology (Vol. 25, Issue 5, pp. 725–733). Elsevier Inc. doi: 10.1016/j.jvir.2014.01.030
- Posthuma, J. J., van der Meijden, P. E. J., ten Cate, H., & Spronk, H. M. H. (2015). Short- and Long-term exercise induced alterations in haemostasis: A review of the literature. *Blood Reviews*, 29(3), 171–178. doi: 10.1016/j.blre.2014.10.005
- Previtali, E., Bucciarelli, P., Passamonti, S. M., & Martinelli, I. (2011). Risk factors for venous and arterial thrombosis. In Blood Transfusion (Vol. 9, Issue 2, pp. 120–138). doi: 10.2450/2010.0066-10
- Saydam, F., Değirmenci, İ., Birdane, A., Özdemir, M., Ulus, T., Özbayer, C., Çolak, E., Ata, N., & Güneş, H. V. (2017). The CYP2C19\*2 and CYP2C19\*17 Polymorphisms play a Vital Role in Clopidogrel Responsiveness after Percutaneous Coronary Intervention: A Pharmacogenomics Study. *Basic and Clinical Pharmacology and Toxicology*, *121*(1), 29–36. doi: 10.1111/bcpt.12763

- Schenkman, J. B., & Jansson, I. (2003). The many roles of cytochrome b5. In Pharmacology and Therapeutics (Vol. 97, Issue 2, pp. 139–152). Elsevier Inc. doi: 10.1016/S0163-7258(02)00327-3
- Sedano-Balbás, S., Lyons, M., Cleary, B., Murray, M., Gaffney, G., & Maher, M. (2011). Acquired activated protein C resistance, thrombophilia and adverse pregnancy outcomes: a study performed in an Irish cohort of pregnant women. *Journal of Pregnancy*, 2011, 232840. doi: 10.1155/2011/232840
- Shah, R. R. (2005). Pharmacogenetics in drug regulation: Promise, potential and pitfalls. *Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences*, 360(1460), 1617– 1638. doi: 10.1098/rstb.2005.1693
- Shaker, M. M., shalabi, T. A., & Amr, K. said. (2021). Correlation of methylation status in MTHFR promoter region with recurrent pregnancy loss. *Journal of Genetic Engineering* and Biotechnology, 19(1). doi: 10.1186/s43141-021-00147-w
- Shin, D. J., Kwon, J., Park, A. R., Bae, Y., Shin, E. S., Park, S., & Jang, Y. (2012). Association of CYP2C19\*2 and \*3 genetic variants with essential hypertension in Koreans. *Yonsei Medical Journal*, 53(6), 1113–1119. doi: 10.3349/ymj.2012.53.6.1113
- Stone, J., Hangge, P., Albadawi, H., Wallace, A., Shamoun, F., Knuttien, M. G., Naidu, S., & Oklu, R. (2017). Deep vein thrombosis: Pathogenesis, diagnosis, and medical management. In Cardiovascular Diagnosis and Therapy (Vol. 7, pp. S276–S284). AME Publishing Company. doi: 10.21037/cdt.2017.09.01
- Sukprasong, R., Chuwongwattana, S., Koomdee, N., Jantararoungtong, T., Prommas, S., Jinda, P., Rachanakul, J., Nuntharadthanaphong, N., Jongjitsook, N., Puangpetch, A., & Sukasem, C. (2021). Allele frequencies of single nucleotide polymorphisms of clinically important drug-metabolizing enzymes CYP2C9, CYP2C19, and CYP3A4 in a Thai population. *Scientific Reports*, *11*(1). doi: 10.1038/s41598-021-90969-y
- Thornburg, K., & Louey, S. (2013). Uteroplacental Circulation and Fetal Vascular Function and Development. *Current Vascular Pharmacology*, 11(5), 748–757. doi: 10.2174/1570161111311050012
- Tiroch, K. A., Sibbing, D., Koch, W., Roosen-Runge, T., Mehilli, J., Schömig, A., & Kastrati, A. (2010). Protective effect of the CYP2C19\*17 polymorphism with increased activation of clopidogrel on cardiovascular events. *American Heart Journal*, 160(3), 506–512. doi: 10.1016/j.ahj.2010.06.039
- Van Dijk, M. M., Kolte, A. M., Limpens, J., Kirk, E., Quenby, S., Van Wely, M., & Goddijn, M. (2020). Recurrent pregnancy loss: Diagnostic workup after two or three pregnancy losses?

A systematic review of the literature and meta-analysis. In Human Reproduction Update (Vol. 26, Issue 3, pp. 356–367). Oxford University Press. doi: 10.1093/humupd/dmz048

- Weinsaft, J. W., Kim, J., Medicherla, C. B., Ma, C. L., Codella, N. C. F., Kukar, N., Alaref, S., Kim, R. J., & Devereux, R. B. (2016). Echocardiographic Algorithm for Post-Myocardial Infarction LV Thrombus A Gatekeeper for Thrombus Evaluation by Delayed Enhancement CMR. JACC: Cardiovascular Imaging, 9(5), 505–515. doi: 10.1016/j.jcmg.2015.06.017
- Wen, Y., He, H., & Zhao, K. (2023). Thrombophilic gene polymorphisms and recurrent pregnancy loss: a systematic review and meta-analysis. In Journal of Assisted Reproduction and Genetics (Vol. 40, Issue 7, pp. 1533–1558). Springer. doi: 10.1007/s10815-023-02823x
- Wendelboe, A. M., & Raskob, G. E. (2016). Global Burden of Thrombosis: Epidemiologic Aspects. *Circulation Research*, 118(9), 1340–1347. doi: 10.1161/CIRCRESAHA.115.306841
- Whitley, G. S. J., & Cartwright, J. E. (2010). Cellular and Molecular Regulation of Spiral Artery Remodelling: Lessons from the Cardiovascular Field. *Placenta*, 31(6), 465–474. doi: 10.1016/j.placenta.2010.03.002
- Xu, R. A., Gu, E. M., Liu, T. H., Ou-Yang, Q. G., Hu, G. X., & Cai, J. P. (2018). The effects of cytochrome P450 2C19 polymorphism on the metabolism of voriconazole in vitro. *Infection* and Drug Resistance, 11, 2129–2135. doi: 10.2147/IDR.S179078
- Zanger, U. M., & Schwab, M. (2013). Cytochrome P450 enzymes in drug metabolism: Regulation of gene expression, enzyme activities, and impact of genetic variation. In Pharmacology and Therapeutics (Vol. 138, Issue 1, pp. 103–141). doi: 10.1016/j.pharmthera.2012.12.007
  - Zhang, Y., Ran, Q., Yin, K., Wang, Y., Liu, J., Zong, Y., Wang, Y., & Cao, Y. (2024). The effects of CYP2C19 genotype polymorphism and clopidogrel resistance on ischemic event occurrence in patients with peripheral arterial disease undergoing revascularization: A prospective cohort study. *Thrombosis Research*, 236, 37–50. doi: 10.1016/j.thromres.2024.02.010

## TURNITIN AND PLAGIARISM REPORT

ILARITY INDEX	96 INTERNET SOURCES	8% PUBLICATIONS	4% STUDENT PAPERS
WARY SOURCES			
Internet Source	o.com.tr		1%
docs.net	J.edu.tr		1%
WWW.SCI Internet Source	ence.gov		1%
"de Swie Practice' Publication	t's Medical Dis ', Wiley, 2010	orders in Obst	<sup>tetric</sup> <1%
pnrjourn Internet Source	al.com		<1%
myhema Internet Source	tology.com		<1%
S Harada GM Cosh Alsip, WH Medicine Birmingh Processe Genotyp Clinical P Publication	a, Y Zhou, S Du hatt, C Dillon, E 3 Hillegass, NA a at the Univer ham: Laying th es Through Im e-Guided Anti Pharmacology	Incan, AR Arms 3C Brott, J Willig Limdi. "Precis sity of Alabam e Foundationa plementation o platelet Therap & Therapeutics	stead, <1 % g, JA ion a at l of oy", s, 2017
hdl.hand	lle.net		<1%

10	Henri Bounameaux, Grégoire Le Gal. "Current Approaches to Deep Vein Thrombosis", Future Medicine Ltd, 2014 Publication	<1%
11	bmccardiovascdisord.biomedcentral.com	<1%
12	Neha Deshpande, Sharanya V., Ravi Kanth V. V., Murthy H. V. V., Sasikala M., Rupa Banerjee, Manu Tandan, Nageshwar Reddy D "Rapid and ultra-rapid metabolizers with CYP2C19 *17 polymorphism do not respond to standard therapy with proton pump inhibitors", Meta Gene, 2016 Publication	<1%
13	ccforum.com Internet Source	<1%
14	Submitted to Queen Mary and Westfield College Student Paper	<1%
15	www.mdpi.com	<1%
16	Submitted to Drexel University Student Paper	<1%
17	m.moam.info Internet Source	<1%
18	pdffox.com Internet Source	<1%
19	jcdr.net Internet Source	<1%
20	translational-medicine.biomedcentral.com	<1%
21	fastercapital.com Internet Source	<1%

22	medtextfree.wordpress.com	<1%
23	xiahepublishing.com	<1%
24	www.aimspress.com Internet Source	<1%
25	Submitted to Cardiff University	<1%
26	Submitted to Chester College of Higher Education Student Paper	<1%
27	Xiaodong Feng, Hong-Guang Xie. "Applying Pharmacogenomics in Therapeutics", CRC Press, 2019 Publication	<1%
28	Submitted to Yakın Doğu Üniversitesi	<1%
29	dev.nextshark.com	<1%
30	Submitted to Sumner College	<1%
31	Submitted to University of Exeter Student Paper	<1%
32	Submitted to University of Huddersfield Student Paper	<1%
33	ashpublications.org	<1%
34	journal.waocp.org	<1%
35	journals.viamedica.pl	<1%
36	onlinelibrary.wiley.com	

	Internet Source	<1%
37	pmc.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov Internet Source	<1%
38	spiegato.com Internet Source	<1%
39	Submitted to Adtalem Global Education	<1%
40	C Prys-Picard. "Prostanoid DP receptor polymorphisms may cause changes in susceptibility to asthma", Thorax, 2005 Publication	<1%
41	Haiying Meng. "Pharmacogenetics", Elsevier BV, 2019 Publication	<1%
42	Submitted to University of Southampton Student Paper	<1%
43	cdn.publisher.gn1.link	<1%
44	eprints.qut.edu.au	<1%
45	Sajad Rafiee Komachali, Mansoor Salehi, Dor Mohammad Kordi Tamandani. "PROZ and ARNT genes novel homozygous mutations are related to Recurrent pregnancy loss", Springer Science and Business Media LLC, 2024 Publication	<1%
46	www.coursehero.com	<1%
47	assets-eu.researchsquare.com	<1%
48	diseasedb.com Internet Source	

		<1%
49	dokumen.tips Internet Source	<1%
50	medicalresearch.com Internet Source	<1%
51	saudijournals.com Internet Source	<1%
52	www.ivfnewsdirect.com Internet Source	<1%
53	www.longdom.org	<1%
54	www.redorbit.com	<1%
55	Aleksi Tornio, Janne T. Backman. "Cytochrome P450 in Pharmacogenetics: An Update", Elsevier BV, 2018 Publication	<1%
56	Irshad M. Sulaiman. "Recent Advancements in the Diagnosis of Human Disease", CRC Press, 2024 Publication	<1%
57	Michael J Kupferminc. Reproductive Biology and Endocrinology, 2003 Publication	<1%
58	Yelena Ionova, James Ashenhurst, Jianan Zhan, Hoang Nhan, Cindy Kosinski, Bani Tamraz, Alison Chubb. "CYP2C19 allele frequencies in over 2.2 million direct-to- consumer genetics research participants and the potential implication for prescriptions in a large health system", Clinical and Translational Science, 2020 Publication	<1%

59	academic.oup.com	<1%
60	doczz.net Internet Source	<1%
61	phdtheses.ekt.gr	<1%
62	www.researchgate.net	<1%
63	www.thieme-connect.com	<1%
64	Nicos Labropoulos, Gerard Stansby. "Venous and Lymphatic Diseases", CRC Press, 2019 Publication	<1%
65	Dimitris Tousoulis, Christodoulos Stefanadis. "Biomarkers in Cardiovascular Diseases", CRC Press, 2013 Publication	<1%
66	Patrick L. Daly, Richard C. Becker. "Pharmacogenetics of Antiplatelet Therapy", Current Atherosclerosis Reports, 2014 Publication	<1%
67	Shailesh D. Kamble, Subhash Singh, Ashwani Kumar, Gaurav Dwivedi. "Tissue Engineering and Regenerative Medicine - Advances and Applications", CRC Press, 2025 Publication	<1%

Exclude quotes Off Exclude matches
Exclude bibliography Off

Off

43